**RECEIVED**

**Dec 07 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Dorchester County

Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

POLO K. SALAZAR,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001066

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

BREEN RICHARD STEVENS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent  
Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to sever Appellant's trial from his non-testifying Codefendant where Appellant was prevented from cross-examining him regarding statements he made to police, and where Appellant was incriminated by these statements through obvious implication when coupled with evidence adduced at trial?

II. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by violating Appellant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights pursuant to Bruton where Appellant was prevented from cross-examining Codefendant regarding his video statements to police admitted at trial, and where Appellant was incriminated by these statements through obvious implication when coupled with evidence adduced at trial?

III. Whether the trial court reversibly erred in admitting (a) Appellant's clothing into evidence, as well as (b) subsequent expert testimony regarding GSR on Appellant's clothing, where the State neither proffered testimony from nor identified the person who collected the clothing of Appellant, where no testimony was given for the manner of how it was collected or handled, and where the trace evidence expert indicated transfer of GSR is possible if clothing contacts other items with GSR?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Polo Keoki Salazar was arrested in the early morning hours of January 28, 2019, along with three other codefendants in his case. On September 26, 2019, he was indicted by the Dorchester Grand Jury for murder, attempted murder, first degree burglary, possession of a stolen vehicle (\$2000 to \$10,000), possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and ill treatment of animals. R. 1282-1293.

Appellant's case, along with one of his codefendants, proceeded to a pretrial motions hearing on May 7, 2021, and to trial before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein and a jury from May 11th through 19th, 2021. Appellant was represented by Ashley B. Cornwell, while the State was represented by David L. Osborne and Chelsea A. Glover. R. 1; R. 177—R. 178.

Appellant was found guilty on all counts. @. 1231, ln. 18—R. 1232, ln. 23. The trial court imposed concurrent sentences of 40 years for murder, 40 years for first degree burglary, 30 years for attempted murder, five (5) years for ill treatment of animals, and five (5) years for possession of a stolen vehicle (\$2000 to \$10,000); the court further imposed a consecutive sentence of five (5) years for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. R.1255, ln. 16—R. 1256, ln. 12; R. 1294-1299.

Appellant's hearing on a motion for a new trial and to reconsider his sentence was held on June 24, 2022. R. 1257. The trial court denied the motion by written order signed July 21, 2022. R. 1281.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Close to midnight on January 27th to 28th, 2019, the back kitchen door was kicked-in at the home of drug dealer Marcus Porter (Porter) and his roommate David Swibaker (Swibaker), in the Robynwyn neighborhood of Summerville, South Carolina. Joseph Weaver (Weaver), a friend, was also present and about to leave at the time. R. 395, ln. 2—R. 396 ln. 19; R. 403, ll. 4-23; R. 408, ln. 13—R. 409, ln. 11; R. 582, ll. 18-23. Four masked assailants armed with handguns entered—two into the living room, and two in the kitchen area—and shouted for everyone to get on the ground. When Porter’s dog attacked, it was shot twice and went down the hall into the master bedroom where it died soon after. R. 409, ln. 12—R. 411, ln. 16; R. 417, ll. 6-8. As Weaver moved closer to the assailants, he was shot once. R. 414 ln. 1—R. 415, ln. 16. Porter was taken to his master bedroom by two of the home invaders where they demanded Porter give them his marijuana. Rather than giving them what they demanded, Porter handed them a mason jar containing only “crumbs” and claimed it was all he had. R. 417, ll. 1-19; R. 419, ll. 6-8.

Meanwhile, Swibaker had run to the bathroom shower when the door was kicked in and people entered. He had heard gunshots, and yelling, and saw Porter taken to the master bedroom by two men. Swibaker then ran across the hall to his own bedroom and was hit in the back of the head by one of the two remaining men. While he was on the ground, the two men rummaged through his bedroom, threw a mattress on Swibaker, and left the room. R. 724 ln. 17—R. 725, ln. 12; R. 728, ll. 1-20; R. 729, ll. 9-18; R. 730, ll. 21-25.

While Swibaker was still in his bedroom, Porter was taken back to the living room, and his two captors threatened to kill people if they did not get the drugs. Rather than giving them the drugs he had, Porter responded, “Do what you gotta do.” R. 419, ll. 11-24; R. 420, ln. 12-25; R. 731, ll. 17-23. Weaver was shot once again, the men present began ransacking the apartment,

and Porter moved toward the front door. R. 421, ll. 1-18. After tripping over Weaver in the hall, the gunman and another assailant again shot Weaver multiple times.<sup>1</sup> R. 423, ll. 1-19; R. 561, ln. 19—562, ln. 7. As the home invaders left out the back, Porter ran out of the front door and was also shot in the chest. R. 423, ln. 20—R. 424, ln. 12.

Porter ran to his neighbor's home, banged on the door to wake them up, and they called 911. First responders arrived within minutes. R. 361, ln. 12—R. 362, ln. 23; R. 424, ll. 17-19; R. 747, ll. 18-25. As more officers were on the way to the incident, a black Honda CR-V with four occupants was seen leaving the Robynwyn subdivision. R. 568, ln. 14—R.571, ln. 17. Corporal Jacob Cramer (Cpl. Cramer) and his trainee heard about the Honda over the radio, saw it as they headed toward Robynwyn, and with their blue lights already on they turned to follow it. R. 582, ll. 20-23; R. 584, ll. 2-9. Once Cpl. Cramer caught-up to the Honda on Highway 78, the vehicle slowed as it came toward train tracks; however, it crossed the tracks and sped-off. R. 585, ln. 16—R. 586, ln. 12. The high-speed chase lasted for approximately 30 minutes and ended in Colleton County where police deployed spike strips to stop the Honda. R. 586, ll. 13-16; R. 588, ll. 21-23; R. 591, ll. 10-20. Occupants of the black Honda CR-V were Appellant in the driver's seat, Muanah Fortune (Codefendant) in the front passenger seat, Devonte Major (Major) sitting in the driver's side rear seat, and Elijah Green (Green) in the passenger side rear seat. R. 591, ln. 21—R. 592, ln. 4.

During the chase, multiple items were seen thrown from the vehicle and later collected, including a wallet with Weaver's license, an orange ski mask, and blue coveralls with a glove and pocketknife in its pockets. R. 589, ln. 4—R. 591, ln. 9; R. 596, ll. 3-4; R. 599, ln. 24—R.

---

<sup>1</sup> Autopsy would later reveal Weaver was a total of shot eight (8) times, more than one of which pierced vital organs. As a result, he died from internal hemorrhaging caused by gunshots to the trunk. R. 1121, ln. 13—R. 1127, ln. 14.

600, ln. 6; R. 853, ll. 18-22; R. 929, ll. 13-25. Cpl. Cramer also checked the roadside in the area where the Honda passed by prior to him catching-up to it. There, he found four handguns: two semiautomatic 9mm pistols; one .380 semiautomatic pistol; and one .38 special revolver. R. 553, ln. 23—R. 554, ln. 18; R. 603, ln. 20—R. 604, ln. 24. Further, when the Honda was later searched several items were also found, including: a glove; a knit hat; a face shield; three watches total; and a brown Gucci bag containing one of the watches, .380 ammunition, and Appellant's identification. R. 868, ln. 2—R. 873, ln. 7.

The home of Porter and Swibaker was also processed for evidence. There, police recovered *inter alia* a jar of marijuana, counterfeit money, seven cell phones, four digital scales, at least two bags of marijuana, sandwich baggies, syringes, 11 pills, and a glass pipe. Further, investigators found fingerprints on the jar and a shoe print on the back door. R. 889, ln. 14—R. 891, ln. 22; R. 904, ll. 11-17. Clothing was also collected from the four suspects sometime while at the jail—Green, Major, Appellant, and Codefendant—including their shoes. R. 873, ln. 8—R. 879, ln. 15. None of the shoes collected from any of the four suspects matched the shoeprint on the back door. Moreover, no fingerprints or DNA of Appellant was found inside the home of Porter and Swibaker. R. 793, ll. 15-24; R. 893, ln. 15—R. 894, ln. 2.

The State elected to try Appellant together with Codefendant, and the case proceeded to pretrial motions on May 7, 2021, before the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein. R. 1. Appellant moved for severance of the cases for several reasons. First, he wanted to tell the jury that Codefendant refused the second DNA buccal swab that the State sought from him pursuant to a search warrant. R. 26, ll. 17-23; R. 32, ln. 12—R. 35, ln. 25; R. 161, ll. 1-4. Second, Appellant argued the video clips from Codefendant's two interrogations that resulted in a confession contained pronouns in both questions and answers which could implicate Appellant since he was

the only person on trial with Codefendant in court. R. 160, ll. 3-25. As a result, Appellant asserted that Bruton was at issue because he had a right to cross examine Codefendant on those matters, yet Codefendant also had a right not to testify. R. 161, ll. 1-24. Accordingly, Appellant argued severance was necessary. R. 162, ln. 21—R. 164, ln. 18. The trial court initially held such concerns during trial would be addressed as follows:

Once the—there will be a break between direct and cross-examination, and I will simply require you to tell me what it is that you want to put in additionally.

And with regards to that then if there's a Bruton concern, you need to let me know. . . . I think that's a manageable way to allow for you to get in what you need and for you to help me to be sure that your clients' rights are protected.

R. 167, ll. 12-22.

Appellant's case proceeded to jury trial with Codefendant on May 11, 2019, wherein Appellant acknowledged the motion to sever trials was denied. R. 177; R. 197, ln. 20—R. 198, ln. 2. At trial, Porter identified Green and Major as two of the four assailants from the home invasion; however, he could not identify Appellant or Codefendant as the remaining two intruders. R. 443, ln. 2—R. 444, ln. 19; R. 461, ln. 3—R. 462, ln. 15; R. 528, ll. 2-19; R. 793, ll. 15-17; R. 1108, ll. 1-4. Detective Phillip Moy (Det. Moy) also testified. Based upon documents from the Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV), he stated that Green, Major, Codefendant, and Appellant were all from the Seabrook/Beaufort area of South Carolina.<sup>2</sup> R. 783, ln. 17—R. 784, ln. 18.

The State sought admission of video clips from Codefendant's two interrogation sessions during trial as well, which the trial court allowed into evidence through Detective Jonathan Davis

---

<sup>2</sup> Jaquavious Washington (Washington) was likewise identified as a resident of Seabrook, South Carolina. R. 784, ll. 17-18.

(Det. Davis).<sup>3</sup> R. 1019, ln. 5—R. 1022, ln. 21. Clip 3a from Codefendant’s first interrogation included an audible question from Det. Davis, asking “Were you there when your buddies shot

---

<sup>3</sup> Although Appellant did not object at the introduction of State’s Exhibit #191 as a whole when initially offered, objection was raised when a particular clip was played, and a bench conference was held. Appellant then stated, “for purposes of the record, we have a continuing objection to all of these under Bruton. Just to preserve the record, your Honor.” The trial court responded, “That, I have no problem with. But if it’s different, let me know.” R. 1022, ll. 4-21; R. 1032, ll. 3-12. When time permitted, the matter was further placed on the record as follows:

APPELLANT: Your Honor, just for purposes of the record, again, as far as the clips go, I wanted to put on record my objection to Bruton. Obviously in one of the clips it says, Were you there when your buddy shot somebody? Later on we talk about whenever he said, They are going to kill me if I talk. Obviously he’s saying that while my client is not only sitting in the room with him but while they’ve got him sitting in the booking room with my client and other people. It gives, I think, an unfair prejudicial effect on my client because my client is not allowed to cross-examine Mr. Fortune regarding who he is talking about when he says, They’ll kill me, things of that nature. I think that it does bring in the Bruton issues that we discussed pretrial. And I just want to put on record that that is our continuing Bruton objections, based on the pretrial, based on—and I did wait until the clip actually came up that actually said, Your buddy—

COURT: Right.

APPELLANT: Any of those clips that had those pronouns in there, is where our objection on Bruton would come in. And that’s a continuing objection.

COURT: Okay. And you had said that the jury has been told that there is more than one other person, four people, it’s repeatedly been said, and there’s no way that, Your buddy, implicates anyone?

STATE: That’s correct, Your Honor. In fact, I’ve got a feeling we’re going to hear the name [Washington] quite a bit in closings by the defense.

COURT: Okay. Great.

[...] this guy?" St. Ex. #191, First Interview, Clip 3a at 3:34:36 am. This was again referenced by Codefendant during his cross examination of Det. Davis. R. 1082, ll. 8-12. Det. Davis also testified summarizing Codefendant's story after the first interrogation as follows:

Q. And what was his story again?

A. That he came back from the Beaufort-Seabrook area by himself—or, excuse me, with his girlfriend to go to see his friend, [Washington]. At that point, he visited [Washington]. He was told that he could not spend the night, so he left, walked, ended up at this Sunoco and miraculously found four other people from Beaufort and got a ride home.

Q. Or three other people?

A. Correct.

R. 1028, ll. 5-13.

Approximately three hours after the first interrogation, Det. Davis indicated he saw Codefendant in the booking area and described an exchange with Codefendant as follows:

He was served with his paperwork, his booking paperwork, which was his charges. He was in the booking area. I looked at him, he looked at me, and we locked eyes. And I approached him and I said, Are you sure you don't want to talk? He put his head down and he said, If I talk, they're going to kill me. At that point, I invited him back for a second interview.

R. 1033, ll. 1-7.

The State elicited similar testimony after the trial court heard objections on the matter. Codefendant likewise used the video clips extensively in cross-examination of Det. Davis, and Det. Davis again relayed what Codefendant said in the booking area. R. 1040, ln. 18—R. 1041, ln. 22; R. 1046, ln. 24—R. 1047, ln. 5; R. 1081, ll. 17-23.

---

R. 1040, ll. 18—R. 1041, ll. 21.

The State also played clips from Codefendant's second interrogation, which included a statement from Det. Davis consoling Codefendant that, "They're going to jail. They're not going to hurt you from there." R. 1033, ln. 6—R. 1037, ll. 17; St. Ex. #191, Second Interview, Clip 1b at 7:19:53 am. When asked where he found the gun, Codefendant responded, "I found it in the car. They had it." St. Ex. #191, Second Interview, Clip 2b at 7:29:12—7:29:16 am. When questioned about what they were looking for, Codefendant told police, "Stuff they just told me to get." When further pressed about what "they" told him to get, Codefendant stated, "Anything I could find." St. Ex. #191, Second Interview, Clip 3b at 7:36:48—7:36:56 am. Moreover, apparently to address matters regarding Washington's possible involvement as the fourth perpetrator in the offense,<sup>4</sup> the State specifically inquired whether Codefendant told police of Washington's involvement in the incident:

Q. At any point did [Codefendant] say that [Washington] was with him when he was in the Honda coming from Beaufort?

A. He did not.

Q. At any point did [Codefendant] say that [Washington] was with him when he went to [Porter's] home?

A. He did not.

Q. At any point did [Codefendant] say that [Washington] was with him when he broke into [Porter's] home?

A. He did not.

R. 1050, ll. 17-25.

---

<sup>4</sup> R. 533, ln. 15—R. 535, ln. 8; R. 742, ln. 20—R. 743, ln. 20; R. 772, ln. 2—R. 773, ln. 21; R. 777, ll. 8-15; R. 778, ln. 6—R. 782, ln. 6; R. 1098, ln. 14—R. 1109, ln. 5.

The State also moved Appellant's clothing into evidence, and Appellant objected on the basis of chain of custody. R. 789, ln. 7—R. 790, ln. 5. When the evidence custodian later testified, he revealed on cross-examination that he was not present when the clothes from any of the four suspects were collected at the jail, and he did not know the circumstances in which they were collected—whether individually, or in a pile, etc.—or how they were transported. I sum, he agreed that all he knew was “that it was brought to [him] in this packaging, did [he] doesn't know how, when, or where it was collected.” R. 883, ln. 1—R. 884, ln. 16. After a break in trial, both Codefendant and Appellant again objected to admission of the clothes due to a break in the chain of custody and moved for a mistrial. Specifically, concerns were raised regarding who collected them, and how they were collected or treated at the very beginning of the chain, which was of particular import due to later testing for gunshot primer residue (GSR). R. 944, ll. 2-23; R. 947, ll. 4-9.

Later in trial, Appellant again objected during the testimony of Nicole Hardin (Hardin), a trace evidence expert from the State Law Enforcement Division (SLED). R. 993, ll. 12-17; R. 994, ll. 11-17. Hardin went on to testify that GSR particles were found on Appellant's garment, as well as those of Codefendant, Green, and Major, yet acknowledged that “no information [could] be provided as to the timeframe in which these particles were deposited.” R. 993, ln. 18—R. 996, ln. 12. She further stated “that for these inanimate items of clothing, that gunshot primer residue got there either by the item being in the vicinity to the discharge of a firearm or coming into contact with something that had gunshot primer residue on it. I can't tell you which one of those.” And on cross-examination, Hardin agreed it was important that the items of clothing she tested not come into contact with each other due to the potential transfer of GSR. R. 998, ll. 3-10; R. 999, ln. 2—R. 1000, ln. 12.

During closing arguments, the State indicated that “[c]orroboration is the key.” R. 285, ln. 20. It went on to discuss Codefendant’s statements to police, and how “he just happened to get into the most unfortunate car he could possibly get into, get into a car with some fellows that were from Seabrook and who had just committed murder.” R. 1147, ll. 12-15. The State also played multiple portions of Codefendant’s video statements as well. R. 1148, ln. 3—R. 1149, ln. 9. Further, the State relied upon the GSR test results from the clothing of Appellant, Codefendant, Major, and Green, calling it “[s]ome pretty important evidence” when arguing they were all inside the house during the incident. R. 1151, ln. 24—R. 1152, ln. 7.

After deliberations, the jury found Appellant guilty of the charged offenses. R. 1232, ln. 10—R. 1233, ln. 4. The trial court imposed an aggregate sentence of 45 years. R. 1255, ln. 16—R. 1256, ln. 12. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court reversibly erred by failing to sever Appellant’s trial from his non-testifying Codefendant where Appellant was prevented from cross-examining him regarding statements Codefendant made to police, and where Appellant was incriminated by these statements through obvious implication when coupled with evidence adduced at trial.**

“Denial of a severance motion is an abuse of discretion if unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” State v. Barnes, 421 S.C. 47, 51, 804 S.E.2d 301, 304 (Ct. App. 2017) (citing State v. Spears, 393 S.C. 466, 475, 713 S.E.2d 324, 328 (Ct. App. 2011)). Appellate courts will reverse the denial of severance “when it is reasonably probable the defendant would have received a more favorable outcome had he been tried separately.” Id. (citing Hughes v. State, 346 S.C. 554, 559, 552 S.E.2d 315, 317 (2001)).

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