RECEIVED

Dec 06 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Dorchester County  
The Honorable Diane Schafer Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

POLO K. SALAZAR,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2022-001066

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100851  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

HONORABLE DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.  
First Judicial Circuit Solicitor

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Our State's Supreme Court has deviated somewhat from federal law, and arguably taken a more stringent tack, albeit without the guidance of *Samia*. In *McDonald*, the court found that the "another person" style of redaction permitted by the trial court still violated *Bruton*, under the circumstances, because it was used for two other male participants in the crime, in a joint trial for all three defendants. *State v. McDonald*, 412 S.C. 133, 141, 771 S.E.2d 840, 844 (2015).

However, this case is distinguishable from *McDonald*, and falls well short of federal rulings establishing the parameters for the narrow application of *Bruton* and its progeny. First, the

confession heard by the jury was not one where redaction and replacement of Fortune's words was necessary. The clips of his confession that had any relevance to the actions of others was persistently referenced as "they" with no identification as to who "they" might mean. Additionally, unlike *McDonald*, the jury was not presented with a trial where all of the co-defendants were tried together.<sup>10</sup> Here, the four co-defendants were split between two trials and Fortune did not attest to any specific number of participants in his reference to "they", his trial contained only one co-defendant, and the facts clearly demonstrated to the jury that no less than four people were involved in this crime. Under the gamut of both federal and state controlling precedent applying *Bruton*, no case has held that *Bruton* applies under circumstances similar to this case.

Appellant raises dispute over the following assertions:

- 1) "Were you there when your buddies shot [ . . . ] this guy?";
- 2) The Detective's articulation of Fortune's story that he was picked up from the Sunoco "by three other people" for a ride home;
- 3) The Detective's commentary that "They're going to jail. They're not going to hurt you from there.";
- 4) Fortune's pre-confession comment: "If I talk, they're going to kill me", which was testified to by Detective Davis;
- 5) Use of the word "they" in relation to:
  - a. "Stuff they just told me to get"
  - b. "I found it in the car. They had it."; and
- 6) The testimony that Fortune did not inculcate Jaquavious Washington, or place Jaquavious

---

<sup>10</sup> *McDonald* also presents a written confession bearing visible redaction, as opposed to the video confession presented in the case at hand.

Washington in the car that night.

Each of these assertions relies upon arguments that lack coherency in relation to *Bruton* challenges. First, the use of the term “buddies” is a phrase used only by Detective Davis in the form of a question, and Appellant never responded to the question or to the Detective’s word choice. As stated above, questions are not evidence. Similarly, under the third assertion, the Detective’s commentary that “They’re going to jail. They’re not going to hurt you from there” is likewise not a confession from Fortune that identifies someone else as being guilty of a crime, it is a statement from the officer. The second assertion only provides an articulation of how many people *the officer* believed were in the car, but such is not borne out in Fortune’s confession. Moreover, at that point, no crime had been committed and Fortune provided no details which would permit someone to assume that the group immediately left the Sunoco and headed to victims’ home; additional stops could have been made, different people could have come and gone.

The fourth assertion does not identify any individual by name, gender, or description. Number four does not even indicate that the people he fears he is upsetting are responsible for a crime. Even if it is assumed that he is referencing the other participants arrested from the car, it does not establish what actions any of those individuals took – leaving Appellant’s supposed mere presence as a driver defense intact. Under the fifth assertion, Mr. Fortune’s use of the term “they” does not provide any form of identification from which the jury can infer identity, and unlike *McDonald*, not all co-defendants are present for the same trial. “They” could just as easily relate to only Green and Major, or to someone else entirely. Lastly, under assertion number six, Appellant’s reliance upon the lack of inculcation of Mr. Washington is particularly odd, since Fortune did not inculcate *anyone* by name and no witness testified to the contrary. Appellant raised Mr. Washington as part of a third-party defense, and nothing about Fortune’s confession negates

such an argument – it is simply not convincing in the face of the other evidence.

There is nothing about Fortune’s confession that lends itself to the inculcation of other co-defendants. What does lead to Appellant’s inculcation is the manner in which he and his co-defendant’s were all arrested, the timeframe separating their fleeing the scene from the time of the crime, the monumental amount of incriminating evidence they tossed out of the car along the way, the DNA results taken from that evidence, and the mutual corroboration of the circumstantial evidence, forensics, and physical evidence recovered. *Knowing all of the facts presented*, can a jury infer that the four fleeing individuals were the four participants in the crime, and that Fortune’s use of the term “they” refers to these individuals? Of course, but it is not a consequence of the confession. The distinction here is best summed up by the Supreme Court in *Gray*: the inference in question is dependent upon the “kind of” inference needed, and not the “simple fact of” inference being needed. *Id.*, at 196. Here, the confession did not refer directly to Appellant or any co-defendant, the inference only arose “when linked with evidence introduced later at trial”. And like *Gray*, the proper evaluation of whether the confession violates *Bruton* by way of inference, is where the confession “obviously refer[s] directly to someone, often obviously the defendant, and which involve inferences that a jury ordinarily could make immediately, even were the confession the very first item introduced at trial.” *Id.* Had Fortune’s confession been the first evidence admitted, the jury would have no ability to infer whether Appellant was part of the “they” that Mr. Fortune referenced, they would only know that multiple participants committed the crime in question. This bolsters the argument that it is the overwhelming evidence and circumstances of the arrest, not the confession itself, that permit an inference by the jury.<sup>11</sup>

---

<sup>11</sup> Even if admission of the confession were to be found a violation of *Bruton*, the evidence against Appellant is overwhelming. He was driving the getaway car, chose to flee from police for 30 minutes, had his ID in the same bag as some of the culprit’s ammunition, had his DNA on multiple

**III. The trial court did not err in admitting Appellant's jacket as it constitutes a nonfungible piece of evidence admitted for the purpose of corroborating identification testimony offered by Mr. Porter.**

Appellant argues that Appellant's jacket<sup>12</sup> (State's Exhibit 194) was lacking a complete chain of custody and that consequently the trial court erred in admitting the evidence. Appellant argues further that the court erred in permitting testimony as to the GSR test results in connection with the jacket. Appellant's first argument fails to properly consider the nonfungible nature of the jacket, and his argument veers away from addressing simply whether the item is what it purports to be, and seeks to argue that the "condition" of the item cannot be said to have remained the same from the time it was obtained until its introduction at trial. Such an argument is both unconvincing and irrelevant, as the initial introduction of the jacket was for purposes of corroborating the identification testimony offered by Mr. Porter. Appellant's second argument, if preserved<sup>13</sup>, does

---

items tossed from the car during the chase, and other items tossed from the car either carried the DNA of the deceased victim or belonged to the surviving victims.

<sup>12</sup> Is also referred to in the record as a camouflaged hoodie (See R. p. 753) and as a camo sweatshirt (See R. p. 598).

<sup>13</sup> It does not appear from the record that Appellant properly challenged the admission of the GSR evidence. First, the State called Jamie Hall who offered chain of custody and collection practices testimony for GSR forensic analysis. However, no evidence was admitted during this stage of trial, and witness Hall did not offer any testimony as to the GSR results. (R. p. 883-893). Next, the State introduced Appellant's jacket (Ex. 194) and it was admitted into trial through the testimony of Officer Phillip Moy, who identified it as the clothing worn by Appellant. (R. p. 789). Appellant objected to the admission of the jacket, arguing that the witness was not the individual who collected it. It was not until page 806 of the transcript, that Fortune's counsel made a motion for mistrial on the basis of chain of custody. Appellant joined in that motion, but no GSR evidence or testimony concerning his jacket had been offered. (R. p. 940-947). And, that motion was ultimately not ruled upon by the court, nor was a ruling sought by defense counsel after the lunch break. The motion appears to be simply abandoned. GSR testimony was addressed by witness Nicole Hardin, and at the time in which Appellant's jacket was brought to the witness's attention, Appellant raised objection "based on the testimony that Mrs. Hardin just gave" which dealt with environmental elements impact on the GSR trace evidence. The objection was conducted off-the-record, and no clarification is given as to the basis of Appellant's objection. (R. p. 987-997; p. 993). There does not appear to be any contemporaneous objection and ruling, on the record, by the trial court as to the admissibility of GSR results in light of a chain of custody objection concerning the collection of Appellant's jacket. The law is clear and voluminous that in order to preserve an issue for appeal

present a gap in the chain of custody of the jacket, but otherwise relies entirely on speculation of tampering or tainted treatment of the evidence. Regardless, any error by the trial court in admitting the GSR results is harmless in the face of the other overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant and in light of the cross-examination conducted by defense counsel. The totality of the record demonstrates that there is no meritorious basis to overturn the convictions or sentences of Appellant in this case.

**a. Admission of the camo jacket was proper.**

The jacket is non-fungible evidence that under South Carolina law does not require a complete chain of custody to establish that the item is what it purports to be, and the alleged gaps in the chain of custody are simply potential witnesses who did not testify, as opposed to an argument that the jacket in question is not actually the jacket worn by Appellant.

Non-fungible evidence does not carry a strict chain-of-custody requirement for admission, so long as they are shown to be what they purport to be. *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 95, 708 S.E.2d 750, 755 (2011) (“The ultimate goal of chain of custody requirements is simply to ensure that the item is what it is purported to be.”).

While the chain of custody requirement is strict where fungible evidence is involved, *where the issue is the admissibility of non-fungible evidence—that is, evidence that is unique and identifiable—the establishment of a strict chain of custody is not required*: If the offered item possesses characteristics which are fairly unique and readily identifiable, and if the substance

---

it must be raised to and ruled upon by the lower court. *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004); *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”); *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693–94 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”). Such is lacking here, and the issue cannot be reached on appeal.

of which the item is composed is relatively impervious to change, the trial court is viewed as having broad discretion to admit merely on the basis of testimony that the item is the one in question and is in a substantially unchanged condition.

*State v. Freiburger*, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741–42 (2005) (citing *State v. Glenn*, 328 S.C. 300, 305–306, 492 S.E.2d 393, 395 (Ct.App.1997)(emphasis added). Physical objects such as clothing are non-fungible evidence. See *State v. Glenn*, 328 S.C. 300, 305–306, 492 S.E.2d 393, 395 (Ct.App.1997) (identifying a woman’s purse as non-fungible evidence).

Indeed, the arguments raised on appeal do not even attempt to argue that the evidence in question is not in fact Appellant’s clothing. Appellant has merely raised a question as to “the condition” of the jacket while providing no argument or discussion as to why “the condition” of the jacket is relevant. Strictly considering the item itself, the jacket is non-fungible evidence because it is not easily alterable or replaceable, and its admission at that point had no forensic purpose. It was identified by Officer Moy as being Appellant’s clothing at the time of the arrest and that he learned that Mr. Porter had seen this type of hoodie worn by one of the assailants during the robbery. (R. p. 791). It is merely identity evidence. Given the record, there is no argument that the jacket is not the item it purports to be and a challenge to its admission by Appellant is without merit.

**b. Any error by the trial court in admitting the GSR testimony is harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence against Appellant.**

After the Appellant’s camo jacket was admitted for purposes of identity corroborative to Mr. Porter’s testimony, the State sought to introduce the results of the GSR testing performed on the jacket. It was then articulated to the jury that the jacket contained gunshot residue particles.

Unlike the introduction of the jacket itself, GSR would constitute fungible evidence. While the chain is complete for the GSR *analysis*, it is arguably incomplete for lack of testimony as to the collection of the source garment from which the GSR was collected.

Courts have abandoned inflexible rules regarding the chain of custody and the admissibility of evidence in favor of a rule granting discretion to the trial courts. *United States v. De Larosa*, 450 F.2d 1057, 1068 (3d Cir.1971). “The trial judge’s exercise of discretion must be reviewed in the light of the following factors: ‘... the nature of the article, the circumstances surrounding the preservation and custody of it, and the likelihood of intermeddlers tampering with it.’” *Id.* (citation omitted). “If upon the consideration of such factors the trial judge is satisfied that in reasonable probability the article has not been changed in important respects, he may permit its introduction in evidence.” *Gallego v. United States*, 276 F.2d 914, 917 (9th Cir.1960).

*State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 93, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753–55 (2011). The State does not contest that the officer who initially collected Appellant’s jacket did not testify. However, the evidence presented shows that the evidence was properly and individually sealed when transported to SLED for GSR sampling and testing. (R. p. 749-750; 756; 758). Appellant is surmising tainted evidence absent any demonstration in the record that such occurred.

Regardless, if the admission of the GSR evidence was in error, the harmless nature of this evidence is apparent in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt against Appellant. As discussed above, Appellant was identified as the driver of the vehicle (R. p. 591), and he clearly, dangerously, and for an extended period of time, fled from pursuing police. All of which took place mere minutes after the 911 call reporting the murder and robbery was placed. In addition, Appellant’s ID was found with ammunition linked to the crime, all four guns from the crime were tossed from the car while Appellant drove, his DNA was on items tossed from his fleeing vehicle, and DNA

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